Use of Antibiotic and Analgesic Drugs during Lactation

Benjamin Bar-Oz,¹ Mordechai Bulkowstein,² Lilach Benyamini,² Revital Greenberg,² Ingrid Soriano,² Deena Zimmerman,³ Oxana Bortnik² and Matitiahu Berkovitch²

- 1 Department of Neonatology, Hadassah University Hospital, Mount Scopus, Jerusalem, Israel
- 2 Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology Unit, Sackler School of Medicine, Assaf Harofeh Medical Center, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv, Israel
- 3 TEREM-Immediate Medical Services, Jerusalem, Israel

Contents

Αb	ostract	925
1.	Pharmacokinetics of Drugs in Breast Milk	927
	1.1 Factors Influencing the Excretion of Drugs Into Milk	927
	1.2 Milk-to-Plasma Ratio	927
	1.3 Infant Drug Exposure	927
2.	Excretion of Antibiotics in Breast Milk	927
	2.1 Penicillins	927
	2.2 Clavulanic Acid	928
	2.3 Cephalosporins	928
	2.3.1 First-Generation Cephalosporins	
	2.3.2 Second-Generation Cephalosporins	
	2.3.3 Third-Generation Cephalosporins	
	2.4 Metronidazole	
	2.5 Fluoroquinolones	
	2.6 Macrolides	
	2.7 Cotrimoxazole (Trimethoprim/Sulfamethoxazole)	
3.		
	3.1 Paracetamol (Acetaminophen)	
	3.2 Dipyrone (Metamizole)	
	3.3 Aspirin (Acetylsalicylic Acid)	
	3.4 NSAIDs	
	3.5 Opioids	
	3.5.1 Codeine	
	3.5.2 Morphine	
	3.5.3 Pethidine (Meperidine)	
	3.5.4 Propoxyphene	
4.	Conclusions	932

Abstract

During lactation, multiple situations can arise that require maternal pharmacological treatment. Because of the many health advantages of human milk to infants, breast feeding should be interrupted only when the needed drug might be harmful to the nursing child and exposure via the breast milk will be sufficient to pose a risk. Since the majority of drugs have not been shown to cause adverse

effects when used during lactation, and even temporary interruption of breast feeding can be difficult for the nursing dyad, decisions regarding maternal medication use during breast feeding should be based on accurate and up-to-date information. This article reviews available data on the most commonly used antibiotics and analgesics.

The use of most antibiotics is considered compatible with breast feeding. Penicillins, aminopenicillins, clavulanic acid, cephalosporins, macrolides and metronidazole at dosages at the low end of the recommended dosage range are considered appropriate for use for lactating women. Fluoroquinolones should not be administered as first-line treatment, but if they are indicated, breast feeding should not be interrupted because the risk of adverse effects is low and the risks are justified.

Paracetamol (acetaminophen), low-dose aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid) [up to 100 mg/day] and short-term treatment with NSAIDs, codeine, morphine and propoxyphene are considered compatible with breast feeding.

Safer alternatives should be considered instead of dipyrone, aspirin at a dosage >100 mg/day and pethidine (meperidine).

In the light of the many safe alternatives for pain control, breast-feeding mothers should not be allowed to experience pain or be made to feel that they must choose between analgesia and breast feeding.

Because of its myriad benefits to mothers and babies, breast feeding is the gold standard of infant nutrition. [1-8] Exclusive breast feeding for 6 months followed by continued breast feeding with the addition of complementary iron-enriched solid foods is recommended by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and WHO as the ideal nutrition. Breast feeding can continue as long as mutually desired by mother and infant. [1,9] During this time, multiple situations can arise necessitating drug therapy of the mother.

There is much confusion among medical professionals about the management of drug therapy in breast feeding mothers.

The AAP published a revised statement of drug use during lactation in 1994^[10] and an update in 2001.^[11] However, these statements do not discuss the supporting data and do not include a number of drugs that are frequently prescribed. This article aims to review relevant clinical studies, give recommendations from major health organisations where available and present our opinion on drugs for which formal statements do not exist. Because questions about the use of antibiotics and analgesics during

lactation were the most frequently asked of our teratogen information centre, we restricted this review to these two drug classes. From these two classes we chose the most commonly prescribed medications to be included in our review. A Medline search using the terms 'milk', 'breast milk', 'breast feeding' and 'lactation' was performed for all the medications included in this review, namely: penicillins, clavulinic acid, cephalosporins, metronidazole, fluoroquinolones, macrolides, cotrimoxazole (trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole), paracetamol (acetaminophen), dipyrone (metamizole), aspirin (acetlysalicylic acid), NSAIDs, codeine, morphine, pethidine (mepridine) and propoxyphene. Previously published review articles and major reference books were scanned as well to identity and retrieve additional papers.

The goal of this review is to provide up-to-date information to allow clinicians to prescribe most commonly needed antibiotic and analgesic medications without inappropriate interruption of breast feeding, bearing in mind that most of the information is based on single-dose and short-term studies. For some of the drugs only single or few case reports

are available, and the ability to assess the possible adverse drug reactions in neonates and infants is limited.

1. Pharmacokinetics of Drugs in Breast Milk

1.1 Factors Influencing the Excretion of Drugs Into Milk

Transfer of substances, including drugs, into breast milk can occur by passive diffusion or active transport. The physicochemical characteristics of the drug determine how much drug is excreted into breast milk. The most important factors are plasma protein binding, ionisation characteristics, lipophilicity and molecular size. [12,13]

High plasma protein binding decreases the amount of drug excreted into breast milk, whereas high milk protein binding results in sustained presence of the drug in milk. The degree of drug ionisation, determined by the drug pKa (ionisation constant) and the pH of the plasma and the milk, plays a role in determining the amount of drug excreted in the milk in a process called 'ion or drug trapping'. High lipophilicity of the drug favours its accumulation in milk. Drugs with high molecular weight are transferred less easily into breast milk than those with lower molecular weight.

1.2 Milk-to-Plasma Ratio

The amount of drug transferred into milk is often presented as a ratio between the drug concentration in the milk and maternal plasma (the M/P ratio) and is usually derived from experimental data. This ratio can vary over time depending on the dose and the time interval between drug intake and sampling time, since the milk concentration-time curve usually lags behind the plasma concentration-time curve. The ratio yields an estimate of the amount of drug to which the nursing infant is exposed, but does not account for clearance or bioavailability in the infant. The M/P ratio can be predicted by using the model described by Begg et al., [14] using pKa, plasma protein binding and octanol-water partition coefficient. From this ratio one can calculate or esti-

mate the relative daily dose to the suckling infant, expressed per kilogram bodyweight as a percentage of the maternal dose per kilogram bodyweight (infants' adjusted dose), and compare the ingested dose with the relevant infant therapeutic dose for that drug.

1.3 Infant Drug Exposure

The actual exposure of an infant to a drug while breast feeding is influenced by some additional factors other than M/P ratio, namely the dose and the dose interval, the elimination half-life of the drug, and the infant's suckling pattern (number of feeds, amount of milk ingested, and relationship of feeding to the time of maternal drug administration). Drug exposure in a breast-fed infant may differ from that in an adult because of different drug absorption, metabolism and excretion. These differences should be taken into consideration when estimating exposure. For instance, a drug with a low M/P ratio may result in a high level of exposure in the breast-fed infant because of decreased clearance rate and resultant accumulation.

2. Excretion of Antibiotics in Breast Milk

2.1 Penicillins

Two aminopenicillins, amoxicillin and ampicillin, have been approved by the AAP to be compatible for use during breast feeding, [11] but the other drugs in this class are not mentioned. Penicillins penetrate into breast milk in small concentrations. After an intramuscular dose of benzylpenicillin 100 000IU the M/P ratio varied between 0.03 and 0.13. The safe use of penicillins during lactation has been well established. [15,16] The milk penetration after oral administration of the penicillinase-resistant penicillins cloxacillin and dicloxacillin has been shown to be very low. [15,17]

Nafcillin and methicillin are used only parenterally, because of minimal gastrointestinal absorption of the former and extreme instability at gastric pH of the latter. Although no reports of their milk concentration have been published, presumably penetration is low as for other penicillins. Furthermore, drug

absorption in an infant exposed via the oral route from its mother's milk would be minimal.

Of the antipseudomonal penicillins, only ticarcillin is approved by the AAP to be used in breast-feeding mothers. Because of poor oral absorption, ticarcillin is used only parenterally. Therefore, infants' gastrointestinal absorption is limited. No data about milk transfer are available for mezlocillin. As with other parenteral antibiotics, concentrations of piperacillin secreted into milk are believed to be extremely low and absorption by infants from milk is presumed to be minimal. [15,17]

In summary, breast feeding should not be considered contraindicated while taking any of the penicillins.

2.2 Clavulanic Acid

Clavulanic acid is generally used in combination with amoxicillin to increase the efficacy of the latter drug against β -lactamase-producing bacteria. The drug is well absorbed orally and undergoes transfer to milk; [15] however, no harmful effects have been reported. We therefore consider this medication compatible with breast feeding.

2.3 Cephalosporins

Similar to penicillins, cephalosporins appear minimally in breast milk.^[18] The pharmacodynamics of a large number of drugs in this group have been studied, and their use in breast-feeding mothers is considered to be appropriate.^[18-25]

2.3.1 First-Generation Cephalosporins

First-generation cephalosporins administered orally or parenterally have been shown to be poorly transferred to milk. For example, cefazolin and cefalothin plasma levels in infants were undetectable. [18,19,24] The AAP has approved first-generation cephalosporins for use during breast feeding. [11]

2.3.2 Second-Generation Cephalosporins

Although cefuroxime and cefaclor are widely used, no data about milk secretion in humans are available. However, no adverse effects in infants of breast-feeding mothers taking these medications

have been reported.^[17,24] We thus consider this group of drugs compatible with breast feeding.

2.3.3 Third-Generation Cephalosporins

Compared with that of cephalosporins of the first and second generations, oral bioavailability of the third-generation drugs is significantly lower.^[24] Cefixime was undetectable in milk 1-6 hours after a 100mg oral dose. Ceftibuten is poorly absorbed with meals, but small to moderate amounts may penetrate into milk.[17] The M/P ratio at 3 hours from a 1000mg dose of cefotaxime was 0.16.[18] After parenteral administration of ceftazidime 1-2g, concentrations in milk peaked at 5 hours, with an approximate milk penetration of 4.4%. [22] Of the parenteral third-generation drugs, cefotaxime, ceftazidime and ceftriaxone have been approved by the AAP for use in breast-feeding mothers.[11] We believe that all members of this group of drugs are compatible with breast feeding.

2.4 Metronidazole

Metronidazole has been implicated in carcinogenesis in rodents, but has not been proved to have any similar effect in humans.[26,27] The drug is not approved by the US FDA for use in infants, although in practice it is often used for the treatment of giardiasis. The AAP considers its effect on nursing infants as unknown but may be of concern. It is not absolutely contraindicated during lactation.[11] No harmful effects attributable to breast feeding have been reported. In one study, average infant intake was estimated to be 3 mg/kg/500mL milk after a maternal oral dose of 200mg three times daily,[28] which is much less than the 15-30 mg/kg/day recommended therapeutic dose for infants.[17,29] Erickson and colleagues^[30] estimated that after a single maternal 2g oral dose about 25mg is passed to the infant by normal breast feeding during the following 48 hours. Passamore et. al. [31] reported a group of 12 mothers who received metronidazole 400mg three times daily while breast feeding their babies; no adverse reactions were recorded in any of the babies. Vaginal gel applications produce about 2% of the plasma levels reported after a 500mg oral administration, and milk levels are presumed to be minimal.

Even lower systemic absorption was reported for use of a topical skin preparation.^[17] The AAP recommends to discontinue breast feeding for 12–24 hours after single-dose therapy given to the mother.^[11] However, according to the above-mentioned reports, we argue that short-term use of metronidazole therapy or a low-dose regimen should not interrupt breast feeding.

2.5 Fluoroquinolones

This group of antibiotics has been reported to cause arthropathy in young animals.^[32,33] Based on this information, fluoroquinolones have not been approved by the FDA for use in infants and children. Recently, a number of studies have reassessed their safety in the paediatric population. Incidence and severity of adverse effects seem to be similar to those reported in adults.^[34-36]

Ciprofloxacin has been implicated as a causative factor of arthropathy in newborn animals. Phototoxicity after exposure to ultraviolet light has been reported.[37] Green teeth on eruption have been reported after treatment with ciprofloxacin in two neonates. [38] One case of severe pseudomembranous colitis was reported in an infant of a breast-feeding mother who had been on self-medication with ciprofloxacin for 6 days.[39] In one study, drug concentrations were evaluated after three oral doses of 750mg. and the milk-to-serum ratio varied between 0.85 and 2.14, with the maximum values at 4 hours. Milk concentrations were highest after 2 hours with 3.79 mg/L and declined to 0.02 mg/L at 24 hours. [36] In another case report, the distribution of ciprofloxacin (500mg once daily for 10 days) from the mother to the breast-feeding infant has been evaluated. The concentration in maternal serum was 0.21 mg/L, that in breast milk was 0.98 mg/L, and that in the infant serum was not detectable.[40] Reported peak serum concentration ranges following ciprofloxacin 250mg, 500mg and 750mg were 0.94-1.53 mg/L, 2–2.9 mg/L and 2.6–3.4 mg/L, respectively.^[41] These data imply that the amount of drug transferred to the suckling infant would be low or negligible. Based on this, we believe that ciprofloxacin can be used, but it should be the last alternative of the quinolones for use in breast-feeding women.

Among quinolones, ofloxacin, norfloxacin or levofloxacin might be preferred in breast-feeding mothers, because of their lower milk concentrations. [17,42] Norfloxacin is reported by the manufacturer not to be found in the breast milk of mothers ingesting the drug. [32] The AAP considers ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin as compatible with breast feeding. [11]

In summary, quinolones should not be first-line therapy in lactating women. However, if quinolones are the only option, breast feeding need not be interrupted.

2.6 Macrolides

Erythromycin is the oldest drug in the macrolide class. It is secreted into milk, with a maximum milk concentration ranging between 0.4 mg/L and 1.6 mg/L after a maternal oral dose of 400mg three times daily and between 1.6 mg/L and 3.2 mg/L after a maternal oral dose of 2 g/day. There was one report of pyloric stenosis associated with ingestion by an infant of erythromycin via breast milk, but despite this, erythromycin is considered by the AAP to be compatible with breast feeding.

Clarithromycin, like other macrolides, is a weak base and could therefore be concentrated in milk by ion trapping. In one study reporting the passage of the drug into breast milk, mean peak concentration of clarithromycin in breast milk was 25% of the corresponding maternal serum concentration. The mean peak concentration of its metabolite was 75% of the corresponding maternal serum concentration. [45]

Azithromycin has an extremely long half-life in tissues and is accumulated to a certain extent in milk. There has been one published case report of a nursing mother receiving azithromycin 1g followed by two doses of 500mg once daily. Milk concentrations were 0.64–2.8 mg/L after the last dose. The investigators concluded that azithromycin seemed to demonstrate a time-dependent versus time-accumulation profile in breast milk.^[46] Therapeutic paediatric doses of this drug are 5–10 mg/kg/day.^[17,46] Our

centre interviewed ten women who received azithromycin 500 mg/day for 3 days for suspected pneumonia and continued breast feeding. The ten exposed infants had no symptoms, no diarrhoea, no vomiting and no rash or any other adverse effects.

When macrolides are needed to treat a breast-feeding woman, erythromycin should be the preferred drug. However, the evidence about the other macrolides does not support the interruption of breast feeding should they be needed.

2.7 Cotrimoxazole (Trimethoprim/ Sulfamethoxazole)

Sulfamethoxazole is secreted into milk in small amounts. It has a very long elimination half-life, ranging from 8 hours in infants to 36 hours in neonates. Care should be taken with use of this drug in neonates with hyperbilirubinaemia. [47] Current FDA labelling states that cotrimoxazole is contraindicated during lactation for the first 2 months because of possible development of kernicterus. [48] There is no evidence of or references cited for this contraindication. [48] The AAP approves cotrimoxazole for use in lactating women. [11]

3. Excretion of Analgesics in Breast Milk

3.1 Paracetamol (Acetaminophen)

Only 0.04–0.23% of the maternal dose of paracetamol is excreted in breast milk. The peak level is found 1–2 hours after ingestion. [49,50] The half-life in milk is comparable to that in plasma, being 1.35–3.5 (mean 2.7) hours. [49-51] The estimated maximum dose in a feed is 1.3–4.8% from the bodyweight-adjusted maternal dose. [49-52] The maximum relative daily dose to the suckling infant is estimated to be about 1.5% from the maternal dose. [50] There have been no reports of adverse effects in the infants of mothers who took paracetamol, except for one case where the infant developed a rash that ceased 24 hours after maternal ingestion and reappeared 2 weeks later when the mother took another dose. [53] The AAP considers the use of paracetamol as com-

patible with breast feeding.^[11] Similar recommendations were published by the WHO.^[54]

3.2 Dipyrone (Metamizole)

Although not available in the US because of serious adverse effects (agranulocytosis), dipyrone is widely used in other countries. In some of them, its use during pregnancy and postpartum even exceeds the use of paracetamol.^[55] Its metabolites appear in the breast milk in concentrations similar to those in the maternal serum. All the metabolites disappear from the milk within 48 hours of the last dose.^[56] In one study the drug concentration in the maternal serum was 3.3 mg/L and in breast milk at the same time was 4.3 mg/L. The urine level in the breast-fed infant was 3.2 mg/L and the infant's serum level was 3.74 mg/L.^[57]

Reports on the use of this drug in lactation are limited. There are no reports of any adverse effects on infants of mothers who were treated with dipyrone, except for one infant exposed to dipyrone via his mother's breast milk, who had a cyanotic episode that was related to the drug.^[57] Dipyrone is not included in the AAP survey of drugs in lactation, as it is not marketed in the US.

Current labelling of the Aventis dipyrone product Novalgina^{®1} states that breast feeding should be withheld for 48 hours after use. We believe that short-term dipyrone use is not a contraindication to breast feeding, but one should consider using a safer alternative.

3.3 Aspirin (Acetylsalicylic Acid)

The salicylates, including aspirin, are excreted in breast milk in low quantities, with M/P ratios of 0.03–0.3. Only a small percentage of the maternal dose (4–8%) reaches the nursing infant via the breast milk and the maximum dose in a feed is estimated to be 0.3–8.1% of the bodyweight-adjusted maternal dose. [51,58-60] The peak level in the milk occurs 3–9 hours after ingestion, depending on the dosage taken. [51,59] Drug clearance from the breast milk lags behind that from maternal plasma; thus the

¹ Use of tradenames is for product identification only and does not imply endorsement.

M/P ratio 8 hours after ingestion rose to 0.34.^[51] The elimination half-life for salicylates has been reported to be considerably longer in neonates than in adults; thus there is a possibility of drug accumulation in their bodies and the appearance of toxic adverse effects.^[61]

It has been reported that aspirin taken in late pregnancy can cause haemostatic abnormalities in the fetus and the neonate. [62] Use of low-dose aspirin (<100 mg/day) during late pregnancy was found to be well tolerated and had no adverse effect on platelet function of the neonate. [63,64] There is a theoretical concern that maternal use of high-dose aspirin can cause bleeding in the nursing infant, especially in the gastrointestinal tract, and can adversely affect the infant's clotting factors. Thrombocytopenic purpura has been reported in one infant who was exposed to aspirin via breast milk.^[65] Metabolic acidosis was reported in a 16-day-old breast-fed infant whose mother received a high dose of aspirin (3.9 g/ day).[66] In a prospective, more recent, study of possible adverse reactions in breast-fed infants of 15 mothers who took aspirin, no negative effects were observed.[67]

The WHO working group on drugs in lactation determined that aspirin is not safe for use in lactation. The AAP recommends caution in using these drugs while breast feeding. It Britain it is recommended that the use of aspirin be avoided while breast feeding because of theoretical concern over the development of Reye's syndrome. [68]

If an analgesic or antipyretic is needed during lactation it is preferable to use other drugs such as paracetamol or other NSAIDs. However, use of low-dose aspirin (up to 100 mg/day) is unlikely to cause adverse effects in the infant. The infant should be observed for any possible adverse effects such as bleeding.

3.4 NSAIDs

The amount of maternal dose found in breast milk is minimal for NSAIDs that have been studied. For ibuprofen and diclofenac it is below the level of detection. [69,70] Naproxen appears minimally in

breast milk with an M/P ratio of 0.01,^[71] but there is a theoretical concern due to a long half-life.^[72,73] One 7-day-old infant developed haematuria, prolonged gastrointestinal bleeding and acute anaemia while his mother was treated with naproxen.^[74]

Indomethacin is excreted in breast milk in very small quantities. The median M/P ratio was 0.37 in 7 of 16 women who were treated with daily dosages of 75–300mg. [75] In the other nine women no measurable amounts of the drug were found in the milk or plasma. Plasma samples were obtained from seven infants. Only one of these had a detectable level of indomethacin of 47 μ g/L. According to the calculations of this study, a nursing infant is exposed to 0.07–0.98% of the weight-adjusted maternal dose. [75] There are no known negative effects of this drug among infants exposed via breast milk except for one report of a mother who took 200 mg/day and whose infant had seizures. The correlation between the exposure and the convulsion is questionable. [76]

From this class of drugs, the AAP considers ibuprofen, naproxen, diclofenac, indomethacin, ketorolac, piroxicam, mefenamic acid and flufenamic acid as compatible with breast feeding.^[11]

Therefore, short-term use of NSAIDs seems to be compatible with breast feeding. For long-term treatment agents without active metabolites, such as ibuprofen, are preferred.

3.5 Opioids

3.5.1 Codeine

Only small amounts of codeine and its metabolites are excreted in breast milk. [51,77-79] Infants are more sensitive to this drug in the neonatal period; there are four reported cases of neonates exposed to codeine via breast milk who had apnoeic episodes. In each of these cases the mothers took high doses – 60mg every 4–6 hours. It should be noted that in all four cases the maternal serum level was undetectable. [80] Therefore, codeine in daily dosages <240mg is considered appropriate for use during lactation. [79] The drug is classified by the AAP as compatible during breast feeding. [111]

3.5.2 Morphine

Morphine is excreted in breast milk in low concentrations.^[81-85] In a group of nursing women treated with morphine either via epidural, intravenous or intramuscular routes, the highest level was found in the milk half an hour after giving the drug. The highest level was 0.082mg per litre of milk when administered by the epidural route and 0.5mg per litre of milk when given intravenously or intramuscularly. The mean M/P ratio was 2.45.[81] In a study reporting seven women receiving intravenous patient-controlled analgesia, breast milk samples were obtained from first administration to 48 hours later. In breast milk, opioids were found in only three patients. The M/P ratio was always below 1 for morphine.^[82] In a case report where an infant was exposed to morphine via breast milk, the authors calculated that the infant received 0.8-12% of the maternal dose and did not exhibit any symptoms of morphine toxicity. [83] As the bioavailability of this drug when taken orally (as it is by the nursing infant) is very low (26%), it is unlikely that the infant will receive a significant dose of morphine via breast milk. The AAP considers morphine to be compatible with breast feeding.[11]

3.5.3 Pethidine (Meperidine)

Small amounts of pethidine appear in breast milk.[84-88] It undergoes hepatic metabolism to the pharmacologically active metabolite norpethidine (normeperidine). In nine women given a single dose of 50mg the peak breast milk level of the drug was 0.13 µg/mL after 2 hours and 0.02 µg/mL after 24 hours. The M/P ratio was greater than 1.[87] In another study of two nursing women who received a dose of 75mg or 150mg, the breast milk levels 8-12 hours later were 0.209 µg/mL and 0.275 µg/mL, respectively, with an M/P ratio of 0.84-1.59. The level of norpethidine in the breast milk was 8.1 µg/L 56 hours after drug administration, a fact that illustrates the slow clearance time of the metabolite.[88] The long half-lives of pethidine (13 hours) and norpethidine (63 hours) in the neonate can lead over time to high serum levels in the infant. It has been found that infants who were exposed to pethidine via breast milk from their mothers, who received this medication intravenously because of caesarean section, were neurologically and behaviourally depressed in comparison to neonates who were exposed to morphine. [84,85] In a group of infants whose mothers received pethidine in labour, higher levels were found in breast-fed than in formula-fed infants. [85] Pethidine is approved by the AAP for use in breast-feeding mothers. [11] The working group of the WHO claimed that breast feeding after a single dose of pethidine was appropriate, but one should consider the possibility of accumulation of norpethidine in the nursing infant before approving the drug for ongoing use in lactation. [54]

3.5.4 Propoxyphene

This drug is excreted in breast milk in small amounts. It reaches a peak in maternal serum 2 hours after administration. Even when the maximum therapeutic dose is used, the infant receives via breast milk less than 1mg, a completely insignificant amount. [89,90] The active metabolite norpropoxyphene is cleared by renal elimination. However, renal clearance is considerably lower in infants than in adults; thus significant amounts of this compound can be accumulated in the suckling infant during long-term maternal treatment. To date no adverse effects have been reported in infants exposed to the drug via breast milk. This drug is considered to be compatible with breast feeding by the AAP. [11]

4. Conclusions

Breast feeding is the gold standard of infant nutrition. When treatment of a lactating mother with an antibiotic or analgesic drug is considered necessary, one should take into account the potential risk for the breast-fed infant, against the benefits of continuing breast feeding. The lowest effective maternal dose should be given to avoid detrimental effects in the breast-fed infant.

The use of most antibiotics is considered compatible with breast feeding. Penicillins, aminopenicillins, clavulanic acid, cephalosporins, macrolides and metronidazole in low, regular doses are considered appropriate for breast-feeding women. Fluoroquinolones should not be administered as first-line

treatment, but if they are indicated, breast feeding should not be interrupted.

Paracetamol, low-dose aspirin (up to 100 mg/day), short-term treatment with NSAIDs, codeine, morphine and propoxyphene are considered compatible with breast feeding. Safer alternatives should be considered instead of dipyrone, aspirin and pethidine. In the light of the many appropriate alternatives for pain control, breast-feeding mothers should not be allowed to experience unnecessary pain or be made to feel that they need to choose between analgesia and breast feeding.

Acknowledgements

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this review. The authors have no conflicts of interest that are directly relevant to the content of this manuscript.

References

- Work Group on Breast-feeding, American Academy of Pediatrics. Breast-feeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 1997; 100: 1035-9
- Koletzko S, Sherman P, Corey M, et al. Role of infant feeding practices in development of Crohn's disease in childhood. BMJ 1989; 298: 1617-8
- Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Taussig LM, et al. Relationship of infant feeding to recurrent wheezing at age 6 years. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1995; 149: 758-63
- Aniansson G, Alm B, Andersson B, et al. A prospective cohort study on breast-feeding and otitis media in Swedish infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1994; 13: 183-8
- 5. Gerstein HC. Cow's milk exposure and type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 1994; 17: 13-9
- Shu XO, Clemens J, Zheng W, et al. Infant breast-feeding and the risk of childhood lymphoma and leukaemia. Int J Epidemiol 1995; 24: 27-32
- Hylander MA, Strobino DM, Dhanireddy R. Human milk feedings and infection among very low birth weight infants. Pediatrics 1998; 102: E38
- 8. Labbok MH. Health sequelae of breast-feeding for the mother. Clin Perinatol 1999; 26: 491-503
- Sugarman M, Kendall-Tackett KA. Weaning ages in a sample of American women who practice extended breast-feeding. Clin Pediatr 1995; 34: 642-7
- American Academy of Pediatrics. The transfer of drugs and other chemicals into human milk. Pediatrics 1994; 93: 137-50
- American Academy of Pediatrics. The transfer of drugs and other chemicals into human milk. Pediatrics 2001; 108: 776-89
- Tadio A, Ito S. Drugs and breast-feeding. In: Koren G, editor. Maternal-fetal toxicology. 3rd ed. New York (NY): Marcel Dekker, 2001: 177-232
- 13. Chung AM, Reed MD, Blumer JL. Antibiotics and breast-feeding. Pediatr Drugs 2002; 4 (12): 817-37
- Begg EJ, Atkinson HC, Duffull SB. Prospective evaluation of a model for the prediction of milk: plasma drug concentrations

- from physicochemical characteristics. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1992 May; 33 (5): 501-5
- Matsuda S. Transfer of antibiotics into maternal milk. Biol Res Pregnancy Perinatol 1984; 5: 57-60
- Nau H. Clinical pharmacokinetics in pregnancy and perinatology: II. penicillins. Dev Pharmacol Ther 1987; 10: 174-98
- 17. Hale T. Medications and mothers' milk., 9th ed. Amarillo (TX): Pharmasoft Medical Publishing, 2000
- Kafetzis DA, Siafas CA, Georgakopoulous PA, et al. Passage of cephalosporins and amoxicillin into breast milk. Acta Paediatr Scand 1981; 70: 285-6
- Yoshioka H, Cho K, Takimoto M, et al. Transfer of cefazolin into human milk. J Pediatr 1979; 94: 151-2
- Dresse A, Lambotte R, Dubois M, et al. Transmammary passage of cefoxitin: additional results. J Clin Pharmacol 1983; 23: 438-40
- Shyu WC, Shah VR, Campbell DA, et al. Excretion of cefprozil into human breast milk. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1992; 36: 938-41
- Blanco JD, Jorgensen JH, Castaneda YS, et al. Ceftazidime levels in human breast milk. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1983; 23: 479-80
- Bourget P, Quinquis-Desmaris V, Fernandez H. Ceftriaxone distribution and protein binding between maternal blood and milk postpartum. Ann Pharmacother 1993; 27: 294-7
- Gilbert DN, Moellering Jr RC, Sande MA, editors. The Sanford guide to antimicrobial therapy. 29th ed. Antimicrobial Therapy Inc. VT, USA. 1999: 58
- Kafetzis DA, Brater DC, Fanourgakis JE, et al. Ceftriaxone distribution between maternal blood and fetal blood and tissues at parturition and between blood and milk postpartum. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1983; 23: 870-3
- 26. Finegold SM. Metronidazole. Ann Intern Med 1980; 93: 585-7
- Beard CM, Noller KL, O'Fallon WM, et al. Lack of evidence for cancer due to use of metronidazole. N Engl J Med 1979; 301: 519-22
- Heisterberg L, Branebjerg PE. Blood and milk concentration of metronidazole in mothers and infants. J Perinat Med 1983; 11: 114-20
- Nelson textbook of pediatrics. 15th ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders, 1996
- Erickson SH, Oppenheim GI, Smith GH. Metronidazole in breast milk. Obstet Gynecol 1981; 57: 48-50
- Passamore CM, McElnay JC, Rainey EA, et al. Metronidazole excretion in human milk and its effect on suckling neonates. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1988; 26 (1): 45-51
- 32. Product Information, Noroxin (norfloxacin): Merck & Co Inc., NJ USA. 2001
- Burkhardt JE, Hill MA, Carton WW. Morphologic and biochemical changes in articular cartilages of immature beagle dogs dosed with difloxacin. Toxicol Pathol 1992; 20: 246-52
- Church DA, Kanga JF, Kuhn RJ, et al. Sequential ciprofloxacin therapy in pediatric cystic fibrosis: comparative study vs ceftazidime/tobramicin in the treatment of acute pulmonary exacerbations. Pediatric Infect Dis J 1997; 16: 97-105
- Hampel B, Hullmann R, Schmidt H. Ciprofloxacin in pediatrics: worldwide clinical experience based on compassionate usesafety report. Pediatric Infect Dis J 1997; 16: 127-9
- Giamarellou H, Kolokythas E, Petrikkos G, et al. Pharmacokinetics of three newer quinolones in pregnant and lactating women. Am J Med 1989 Nov 30; 87 (5a): 49s-51s
- Product information. Cipro (ciprofloxacin). Bayer Corporation. CT USA, 2002

- Lumbiganon P, Pengsaa K, Sookpranee T. Ciprofloxacin in neonates and its possible effect on the teeth. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1991; 10: 619-20
- Harmon T, Burkhart G, Applebaum H. Perforated pseudomembranous colitis in the breast-fed infant. J Pediatr Surg 1992; 27: 744-6
- Gardner DK, Gabbe SG, Harter C. Simultaneous concentrations of ciprofloxacin in breast milk and in serum in mother and breast-fed infant. Clin Pharmacol 1992; 11: 352-4
- Brittain DC, Scully BE, McElrath MJ, et al. The pharmacokinetics and serum and urine bactericidal activity of ciprofloxacin. J Clin Pharmacol 1985; 25: 82-8
- Wise R. Norfloxacin: a review of pharmacology and tissue penetration. J Antimicrob Chemother 1984; 13: 59-64
- Briggs GG, Freeman RK, Yaffe SJ. Drugs in pregnancy and lactation. 5th ed. Baltimore (MD): Williams & Wilkins, 1998
- 44. Stang H. Pyloric stenosis associated with erythromycin ingested through breast milk. Minn Med 1986; 69: 669-70
- Sedlmayr T, Peters F, Raasch W, et al. Clarithromycin, a new macrolide antibiotic: effectiveness in puerperal infections and pharmacokinetics in breast milk. Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd 1993; 53 (7): 488-91
- Kelsey JJ, Moser LR, Jennings JC, et al. Presence of azithromycin breast milk concentration: a case report. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994; 170: 1375-6
- 47. Rasmussen F. Mammary excretion of sulfonamides. Acta Pharmacol Toxicol 1958; 15: 138-48
- Sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim tablets, product information [online]. Available from URL: http://: www.fda.gov/cder/ foi/label/2001/21105lbl.pdf [Accessed 2003 Sep 30]
- Berlin CM, Jafee S, Ragni M. Disposition of acetaminophen in milk, saliva and plasma of lactating women. Pediatr Pharmacol 1980; 1: 135-41
- Bitzen PO, Gustafsson B, Jostell KG, et al. Excretion of paracetamol in human breast milk. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1981; 20: 123-5
- Findlay JWA, De Angelis RL, Keamey MF, et al. Analgesic drugs in breast milk and plasma. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1981; 29: 625-33
- 52. Notarianni LJ, Oldham HG, Bennett PN. Passage of paracetamol in breast milk and its subsequent metabolism by the neonate. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1987; 24: 63-7
- Matheson I, Lunde PKM, Notarianni L. Infant rash caused by paracetamol in breast milk. Pediatrics 1985; 76: 651-2
- The WHO Working Group, Bennet PN, editor. Drugs and human lactation. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1988
- Sabo A, Stanulovic M, Jakovljevic V, et al. Collaborative study on drug use in pregnancy: the results of the follow-up 10 years after (Novi Sad Centre). Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2001; 10 (3): 229-35
- Zylber-Katz E, Linder N, Granit L, et al. Excretion of dipyrone metabolites in human milk. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1986; 30: 359-61
- Rizzoni G, Furlanut M. Cyanotic crises in breast-fed infant from mother taking dipyrone. Hum Toxicol 1984; 3: 505-7
- Jamali F, Keshavartz E. Salicylate in breast milk. Int J Pharm 1981; 8: 285-90
- Bailey DN, Weibert RT, Naylor AJ, et al. A study of salicylate and caffeine excretion the breast milk of two nursing mothers. J Anal Toxicol 1982; 6: 64-8
- Erickson SH, Oppenheim GL. Aspirin in breast milk. J Fam Pract 1979; 8: 189-90

- Levy G. Salicylate pharmacokinetics in the human neonate. In: Morselli PL, Garattini S, Sereni F, editors. Basic and therapeutic aspects of perinatal pharmacology. New York (NY): Raven Press, 1975: 319-29
- Stuart MJ, Gross SJ, Elrad H, et al. Effect of acetylsalicylic-acid ingestion on maternal and neonatal hemostasis. N Engl J Med 1982; 307 (15): 909-12
- Louden KA, Broughton Pipkin F, Heptinstall S, et al. Neonatal platelet reactivity and serum thromboxane B2 production in whole blood: the effect of maternal low dose aspirin. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1994; 101 (3): 203-8
- Dasari R, Narang A, Vasishta K, et al. Effect of maternal low dose aspirin on neonatal platelet function. Indian Pediatr 1998; 35 (6): 507-11
- Terragna A, Spirito L. Thrombocytopenic purpura in an infant after administration of acetylslicylic acid to the wet-nurse. Minerva Pediatr 1967; 19 (13): 613-6
- Clark SH, Wilson WG. A 16-day-old breast-fed infant with metabolic acidosis caused by salicylate. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 1981; 20: 53-4
- Ito S, Blajchman A, Stephenson M, et al. Prospective follow-up of adverse reaction in breast-fed infants exposed to maternal medication. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993; 168 (5): 1393-9
- British National Formulary. Prescribing in breast-feeding. British Medical Association and Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain. 2003, appendix 5
- Townsend RJ, Benedetti TJ, Erickson S, et al. Excretion of ibuprofen into human milk. Ann J Obstet Gynecol 1984; 49: 184-6
- Sioufi A, Stierlin H. Recent findings concerning clinically relevant pharmacokinetics of diclofenac sodium. In: Kass K, editor. Voltaren new findings. Bern: Hans-Huber Publishers, 1982: 19-30
- Product Information. Naprosyn. Roch Laboratories, NJ USA, 2001
- Jamali F, Tam YK, Stevens RD. Naproxen excretion in breast milk and its uptake by suckling infant [abstract]. Drug Intell Clin Pharm 1982; 16: 475
- Jamali F, Stevens DRS. Naproxen excretion in milk and its uptake by the infant. Drug Intell Clin Pharm 1983; 17: 910-1
- Figalgo I. Anemia aguda, rectaorragya hematuria asociadas a la ingestion de naproxen. An Esp Pediatr 1989; 30: 317-9
- Lebedevs TH, Wojnar-Horton RE, Yapp P, et al. Excretion of indomethacin in breast milk. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1991; 32: 751-4
- Fairhead FW. Convulsion in a breast-fed infant after maternal indomethacin [letter]. Lancet 1978; II: 576
- Spigset O, Hagg S. Analgesics and breast-feeding safety considerations. Pediatr Drugs 2000; 2 (3): 223-38
- Horning MG, Stillwell EG, Nowlin J, et al. Identification and quantification of drugs metabolites in human breast milk using GC-MS-COM methods. Mod Probl Paediatr 1975; 15: 73-9
- Meny RG, Naumburg EG, Alger LS, et al. Codeine and the breastfed neonate. J Hum Lact 1993; 9 (4): 237-40
- Davis JM, Bhutani VK. Neonatal apnea and maternal codeine use [abstract]. Pediatr Res 1985; 19 (4): A170
- Feilberg VL. Excretion of morphine in human breast-milk. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1989; 33: 426-8
- Baka NE, Bayoumeu F, Boutroy MJ, et al. Colostrum morphine concentration during postcesarean intravenous patient-controlled analgesia. Anesth Analg 2002; 94 (1): 184-7

- Robieux I, Koren G, Vandenbergh H, et al. Morphine excretion in breast milk and resultant exposure of a nursing infant. J Clin Toxicol 1990; 28: 365-70
- 84. Wittles B, Scott DT, Sinatra RS. Exogenous opioids in human milk and acute neonatal neurobehavior: a preliminary study. Anesthesiology 1990; 73: 864-9
- 85. Wittels B, Glosten B, Faure EA, et al. Postcesarean analgesia with both epidural and intravenous patient-controlled analgesia: neurobehavioral outcomes among nursing neonates. Anesth Analg 1997; 85 (3): 600-6
- Vorherr H. Drug excretion in breast milk. Postgrad Med 1974;
 56: 97-104
- 87. Peiker G, Muller B, Ihn W, et al. Excretion of pethidine in mother's milk. Zentralbl Gynakol 1980; 102: 537-41
- Quinn PG, Kuhner BR, Kaine CJ, et al. Measurement of meperidine and normeperidine in human breast milk by select-

- ed ion monitoring. Biomed Environ Mass Spectrom 1986; 13: 133-5
- Catz C, Gulacoia G. Drugs and breast milk. Pediatr Clin North Am 1972; 19: 151-66
- Kunka RL, Venkataramanan R, Stern RM, et al. Excretion of propoxyphene and norpropoxiphene in breast milk. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1984; 35: 675-80

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Matitiahu Berkovitch*, Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology Unit, Assaf Harofeh Medical Center, 70300 Zerifin, Israel.

E-mail: mberkovitch@asaf.health.gov.il